# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

RAYSHON DERRICK THOMAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S185305

SUPPENE COUPT

DEC -1 2010

rederick K. Onlinen Ort

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F056337

#### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General
JANET A. NEELEY
Deputy Attorney General
STEPHEN G. HERNDON
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 130642
1300 I Street, Suite 125
P.O. Box 944255
Sacramento, CA 94244-2550
Telephone: (916) 327-0350

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Did Penal Code section 781 permit the prosecution of defendant for possessing cocaine for sale in Madera County, where defendant lived and arranged his drug sales, even though he stored the contraband in adjacent Fresno County?

If not, should the Court of Appeal have considered whether defendant was prejudiced by the trial court's denial of his motion to dismiss for improper venue?

#### INTRODUCTION

Penal Code section 781 provides that crimes committed in part in one jurisdictional territory and part in another may be prosecuted in either. Appellant, a paroled gang member, lived and conducted drug sales in Madera County. He stored his cocaine and gun in a storage locker nearby in Fresno County. He was successfully prosecuted for gun possession and possessing cocaine for sale in Madera County. The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed his convictions, finding that venue lay solely in Fresno County. Respondent takes issue with the appellate court's conclusion that Penal Code section 781<sup>1</sup> does not apply. Respondent also contests the appellate court's failure to conduct a harmless error analysis.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A search of appellant, his vehicle, and his residence, all in Madera County, unearthed evidence that appellant was involved in selling rock cocaine. Appellant also had a key to and receipts for a storage locker in Fresno County. Officers searched that locker and found a large amount of cocaine and a revolver with appellant's initials. Possessing cocaine for sale and gun possession charges were filed in Madera County. It was further

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All section references are to the Penal Code.

alleged that both counts were committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, and in association with a criminal street gang. (CT 1-4.)

On June 17, 2002, prior to the preliminary hearing, appellant filed a motion to dismiss based on improper vicinage and venue, alleging that Fresno County was the proper venue because that was where the contraband was located. (1 CT 16-26.) On July 24, 2002, the People filed an opposition. (1 CT 38-47.)

At the August 2, 2002 hearing on that motion, appellant presented testimony from the resident manager of the storage locker. (5 RT 1201-1203.) He explained the procedures for renting and using the lockers. (5 RT 1203-1224.) Any person who knows the proper key code and possesses a key to the lock on the storage unit would have access to that unit. (5 RT 1223.)

Robert Blehm, a detective with the Madera County Narcotics Enforcement Team, testified about his declaration and affidavit that was attached to the People's opposition. (5 RT 1232-1238; see 1 CT 42-46.) Blehm had searched appellant, his vehicle, his residence, and the storage locker after appellant was detained on November 2, 2001. (5 RT 1239-1241; 6 RT 1513-1522.)

The People asked Detective Blehm a hypothetical question based on these facts:

Being that on November 2nd of last year Mr. Thomas was stopped by his parole officer at 807 Clinton Street, Madera California. Upon being contacted by his parole agent, Mr. Thomas was found to be in possession of a large plastic bag. It contained a large amount of U.S. Currency, as well as a receipt to a storage locker; that being the Derrel's Mini Storage that's been discussed. Specifically, in the red bag there were found 956 one-dollar bills, 745 five-dollar bills, 228 ten-dollar bills, 260 twenty-dollar bills, two fifty-dollar bills, 3 one-hundred dollar bills, for a total of \$12,561.

After that initial contact with Mr. Thomas, his parole agent then went to the address that Mr. Thomas was reporting to parole, that being 524 Adelaide Street, No. 103, to do a search; that location was searched. Between that location and documentation that was on Mr. Thomas' person at the time of his contact by the parole officer on Clinton Street, there was a connection found to 522 Adelaide Street, No. C, in the City of Madera. Also during the search of Mr. Thomas at the Clinton Street address, a number of keys were found in his possession. Was found that he had a key in his possession that opened the padlock or the locking mechanism to the door at 522 Adelaide Street, No. C. Based upon that, 522 Adelaide, No. C, was accessed.

At that location agents found another large stack of money in a dryer that was in the kitchen. The money found in the dryer consisted of 31, one-dollar bills, 10 five-dollar bills, 16 tendollar bills, 20 twenty-dollar bills, and another hundred dollar bill, for a total of \$741. Additionally, at that location agents discovered two microwave ovens, a bag of – a box of sandwich bags, a face filter mask, and a second receipt for the Derrel's Mini Storage, as well as some baking soda.

At that point agents then proceeded to the location of the mini storage. In the Derrel's Mini Storage that was on the receipts, they took with them the keys that had been found on Mr. Thomas' person. At the Derrel's Mini Storage, they discovered that the key on his person fit a padlock on the locker that was mentioned earlier in the testimony. I think it's 452, but I may be wrong. But the one that was referred to by Mr. Litman, inside that locker upon opening the locker, agents smelled a strong odor of cocaine. The locker was searched. 2.4 pounds of cocaine was found in the locker, as well as a stainless steel revolver. The stainless steel revolver was wrapped in a handkerchief, had – that had the initials RT on it.

(6 RT 1524-1527.) Detective Blehm was also aware that several informants had identified appellant as a large trafficker of cocaine in the City and County of Madera and that he was a validated 916 Sac Town Blood gang member. (6 RT 1527.) Based on those facts, as well as his contacts with street gang members in Madera who had sold and been

arrested for possession and possession for sale of rock cocaine, Detective Blehm opined that appellant possessed the cocaine for purposes of selling it in Madera County. (6 RT 1526-1529.) He opined that appellant was using the 522 Adelaide, No. C residence to manufacture and sell rock cocaine. (6 RT 1538-1539.)

The trial court denied the motion on September 9, 2002. (1 CT 95.) It found that evidence of some of the elements of possession for sale of a controlled substance was located in Madera County. (6 RT 1546.)

On July 12, 2005, appellant filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to section 995 based on improper venue. (1 CT 202-215.) The People filed oppositions to the motion. (1 CT 218-223, 227-236, 239-248.) On January 26, 2006, the trial court denied the motion. (1 CT 250; 21 RT 6020-6021.) In doing so, the court stated:

What the People have alleged and have proved and with regard to establishing venue, they only have to establish that by a preponderance of the evidence. We are talking not about a street dealer, we are talking about a criminal enterprise trafficking in illegal narcotics whose home base or home office is in the City of Madera.

We have Mr. Thomas living in the City of Madera, either at his purported [sic] parole address or at his hideaway, where is apparently the base of his operations. His money is here. And a large amount of money is here. His financing is here. He lives here. He is gang related to here. His business records are here. The only thing absent is his inventory. And his inventory, in a business sense, is just across the county line on Herndon. And so he is in constructive possession of his inventory like any other business even though it could be located a county away or state away, his base of operation is here and so the enterprise is here. He is in constructive – his constructive presence is here. Element obviously of the crime is here but you look at all this evidence presented by the People, a jury could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that he is in constructive possession in Madera County of the drugs and the gun. So for those reasons the motion is denied.

#### (21 RT 6020-6021.)

On October 14, 2003, an information was filed in Madera County Superior Court charging appellant, in count 1, with possessing cocaine for sale, possessing more than a kilogram of cocaine, possessing cocaine while armed, having two strike prior convictions, and committing the offense with the intent to promote, further, and assist criminal conduct by gang members; appellant was charged in count 2 with being a felon in possession of a firearm, with prior strike and gang enhancements. (1 CT 125-128.) The gang enhancements were stricken the day the jury returned its verdicts. (4 CT 773.) On October 10, 2008, appellant was sentenced to 8 years plus 25 years to life on these charges.

On July 2, 2010, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed appellant's judgment in an unpublished opinion. The court determined that Fresno County, not Madera County, was the proper venue for prosecution. Respondent's petition for rehearing was denied on July 26, 2010.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court correctly determined that Penal Code section 781 permitted the prosecution of appellant in Madera County. Madera was appellant's base of operations for his drug business, thus he intended to sell the cocaine there. Only his inventory of cocaine was stored in Fresno County. When appellant was apprehended in Madera County, he had the key to and receipts for the storage locker; thus, he constructively possessed the contraband in Madera. Finally, any error in the trial court's venue determination should have been reviewed for prejudice because venue does not implicate a trial court's fundamental jurisdiction.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY TRIED IN MADERA COUNTY BECAUSE HE COMMITTED HIS CRIME<sup>2</sup>, OR ENGAGED IN THE REQUISITE ACTS, OR CAUSED THE REQUISITE EFFECTS, IN THAT COUNTY

This case concerns the application of Penal Code section 781 to the crime of possessing cocaine for sale where a defendant stores his drugs in one county but lives and conducts his drug business in another. This statute, one of the many exceptions to the general rule that venue lies in the county where the crime is committed (§ 777), provides:

When a public offense is committed in part in one jurisdictional territory and in part in another, or the acts or effects thereof constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense occur in two or more jurisdictional territories, the jurisdiction of such offense is in any competent court within either jurisdictional territory.

 $(§781.)^3$ 

Succinctly stated, "[u]nder section 781, when a crime is committed partly in one county and partly in another county, or where the acts or effects constituting the crime or requisite to its commission occur in more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Respondent focuses on count 1's charge of possessing cocaine for sale; consideration of count 2's gun possession charge does not materially alter the analysis.

Respondent notes some useful definitions: (1) territorial jurisdiction, or venue, means the county where a case can be tried (§§ 691, subd. (b), 777; People v. Britt (2004) 32 Cal.4th 944, 955; People v. Posey (2004) 32 Cal.4th 193, 199.); (2) jurisdiction refers to the inherent power of a court to decide a case and is composed of personal and subject matter jurisdiction (Burns v. Municipal Court (1961) 195 Cal.App.2d 596, 599); and (3) vicinage refers to a defendant's right to have a jury selected from the inhabitants in the area where the crime was committed (Price v. Superior Court (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1046, 1056). For venue provisions in addition to sections 777 and 781, see People v. Posey, supra, 32 Cal.4th at p. 209, fn. 7.

than one county, venue is in the superior court in each of the counties in question, and a defendant may be tried in any of them." (People v. Posey, supra, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 199-200.) Venue provisions in criminal cases "aim at insuring that a defendant's trial ... is conducted in an appropriate place, taking into account convenience both to the People and to the defendant, fairness to the defendant, and participation on the part of the community affected." (Id. at p. 204.) Section 781's multiple venue provisions are remedial and must be liberally construed. (People v. Hernandez (1976) 63 Cal.App.3d 393, 401.) A liberal construction achieves the statute's underlying purpose, "which is to expand venue beyond the single county in which a crime may be said to have been committed (see, e.g., People v. Gutierrez (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1083, 1118; People v. Simon (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1082, 1109; People v. Bismillah (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 80, 83; cf. Price v. Superior Court, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1055 [concluding that provisions like § 781 are 'remedial and for that reason [are] construed liberally to achieve the legislative purpose of expanding criminal jurisdiction']) -consistently, of course, with 'protect[ing] a defendant from being required to stand trial in a distant and unduly burdensome locale' (People v. Simon, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1110, fn. 18)." (Posey, supra, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 218-219.)

#### Furthermore,

The phrase "acts or effects ... requisite to the consummation" (id. at p. 219) of a crime does not require that those acts amount to an element of the crime. (See People v. Price (1991) 1 Cal.4th 324, 385.) These words encompass preparatory acts. (People v. Posey, supra, 32 Cal.4th at p. 219 [telephone call made to county of venue for purpose of planning crime was sufficient preparatory act]; Price, supra, 1 Cal.4th at pp. 384-386 [theft of firearms in county of venue, leading to murder in another, was sufficient preparatory act].) The prosecution must prove the facts establishing venue by a preponderance of the evidence.

(See *People v. Cavanaugh, supra*, 44 Cal.2d at p. 262; *People v. Carter* (1935) 10 Cal.App.2d 387.)

(People v. Betts (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1039, 1057 (Betts).)

The prosecution need only prove the facts supporting venue by a preponderance of the evidence. (*Posey*, *supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 211.) A venue determination will not be disturbed on appeal as long as there is some evidence to support it. (*People v. Gutierrez, supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 1117.)

Here, the trial court had more than some evidence to support its determination that Madera County was a proper venue for appellant's trial under section 781. Appellant's connection to, acts in, and effects upon Madera County were significant: he lived there, was being supervised on parole there, was gang-related there, conducted an ongoing drug business selling rock cocaine there, and maintained a separate apartment to process his drugs there. When arrested, he had items involved in his drug sales (cash, cell phones, pager, baggies, microwaves, vehicle rental agreements, etc.) on his person, in his car, or in a secret apartment near his residence that was under his control. (6 RT 1524-1527; 1 CT 43, 243-244.) Tellingly, when arrested, appellant had a key to and receipts for the storage locker in Fresno which stored his cocaine and gun. In legal terms, appellant actually possessed the key to and receipts for the Fresno locker in Madera, giving him constructive possession in Madera of the cocaine in the Fresno locker.<sup>4</sup> These possessory acts were requisite to the consummation of his offense of possessing cocaine for sale. Expert opinion established that appellant intended to sell that cocaine in Madera. In short, appellant conducted his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Liability for possessing a controlled substance for sale may be predicated on either actual or constructive possession. (*People v. Morante* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 403,417, citing *People v. Rogers* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 129, 134.)

drug enterprise where he lived -- in Madera; he only stored his inventory across the county line in Fresno. Accordingly, appellant committed his offense partly in Madera and partly in Fresno, making venue proper in Madera under section 781. (See *People v. Waid* (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 614, 617 [defendant mailed narcotics in Los Angeles County to prison in San Bernardino County; venue proper in Los Angeles].)

The appellate court eschewed this commonsense approach. Before examining that court's reasoning, a review of recent cases interpreting section 781 is helpful. This Court has examined section 781 several times in the past decade. For example, in *Posey*, this Court held that venue is a question of law to be decided by the court prior to trial. (*Posey, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 204, 208.) This Court also found the evidence sufficient to establish venue in Marin for a charge of selling cocaine base even though the two sales took place in San Francisco where the defendant lived; defendant's only contact with Marin County occurred over the phone when, from San Francisco, he negotiated the sales with an undercover officer in Marin. (Id. at pp. 220-221.) Nevertheless, this Court found venue in Marin was appropriate because defendant's "telephone calls to Marin constituted 'effects ... requisite to the consummation' of the crimes in question." (Id. at p. 221.) Similarly, appellant's gang connections, drug sales operation, residency, and possession of the locker key and receipts, all in Madera County, were necessary to the crime of possessing cocaine with the intent to sell it. If phone calls to the forum county are enough to vest venue, certainly appellant's many actions in Madera vested venue there.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Witkin writes that "[t]he broadened venue provision of P.C. 781 is usually applied in two classes of cases: those in which acts of *commencement* take place in the county of trial (*infra*, § 52), and those in which acts of *consummation* take place there (*infra*, §53)." (See 4 Witkin (continued...)

Next, in 2005, this Court decided *Betts, supra*, 34 Cal.4th 1039. There, defendant, a long-haul truck driver, picked up one of his victims in Riverside County but molested her in Los Angeles County. (*Betts*, at pp. 1056-1057.) The Court found that venue in Riverside was appropriate. Appellant picked up his victim in Riverside County with the intent to molest her, and his action of driving her to another county gave him the opportunity to molest her. (*Id.* at pp. 1057-1058.) Here, appellant had the intent to sell cocaine in Madera and evidence of his operation was in Madera. Storing his cocaine in Fresno protected it from being stolen or discovered, and thus furthered his drug sales.

In 2009, this Court returned to section 781 in *People v. Carrington* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 145 (*Carrington*). There, the defendant was convicted of multiple crimes arising out of four separate incidents. (*Carrington, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at pp. 154-155.) Said this Court:

The evidence established, and the trial court found, that defendant committed preparatory acts in San Mateo County when she collected the items she planned to use to commit the crimes, including gloves, a screwdriver, a key, and a gun, from her home in San Mateo County, and made arrangements there to be transported to Palo Alto. Defendant suggests these preparatory acts were insufficient because there is no evidence defendant was planning to commit a murder -- as opposed to a burglary, theft, or robbery -- at the time she made these preparations in San Mateo County. Nevertheless, if preparatory acts occur in one county, those acts vest jurisdiction over the crime "even though the intent may have arisen in another county." (*People v. Bismillah* (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 80, 86.)

(Id. at p. 185; see also People v. Price, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 385 [Humboldt County had jurisdiction over a murder committed in Los

<sup>(...</sup>continued) & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000), Jurisdiction and Venue, § 51, and cases collected at §§ 52 & 53.)

Angeles County because the defendant went to Humboldt County to obtain weapons for the purpose of killing the victim in Los Angeles County].)

The same is true here. Appellant stored his cocaine in Fresno for the purpose of processing it into cocaine base in Madera County.

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