IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,)
. Plaintiff and Respondent,) Case No. S185305
V.) (F056337; Madera County) Information No. CR10473)
RAYSHON DERRICK THOMAS,)
. Defendant and Appellant.)) _)

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT

FEB 23 2011

Frederick K. Chirich Clark

CARLO ANDREANI, Esq. (State Bar No. 85100) 582 Market St., Suite 811 San Francisco, CA 94104 (415) 398-9870 Attorney for Appellant

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

4. Even rationally grounded Madera County venue did not overcome the Sixth Amendment violations and the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process and Equal Protection violations.

Finally, even assuming venue was rationally grounded by Madera County, the reasons for placing venue there did not overcome the Sixth Amendment violations and the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process and Equal Protection violations. (§ IA 2-4, ante; Taylor v. Louisiana, supra, 419 U.S. at p. 534; Smith v. Texas, supra, 311 U.S. at pp. 130-132.) The Sixth Amendment substantively protected the accused's rights to trial by jury, vicinage, and representative cross-section. The Sixth Amendment structurally functioned to

safeguard against the prosecution's stacking the deck in its favor, competing on an unequal field, shopping for a forum beyond when the alleged offense was committed, choosing a forum favorable for itself and unfriendly to the defendant, shuffling the jury venire to obtain a minority-poor jury pool, manipulating the jury pool composition to exclude racial segments of the community from participation, denying a representative jury, and excluding the accused's peers. The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses are linked to the Sixth Amendment's substantive protections for the accused and structural safeguards limiting the prosecution. The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses were adopted and construed liberally so that the state could not systematically discriminate in the composition and selection of jurors to exclude African-Americans and to prejudice and sway jurors' judgments. They guard against state action, vindicate the accused's rights to be tried by a truly representative jury whose members are selected by nondiscriminatory criteria, protect against systematic exclusionary practices whatever their form, limit the prosecution's manipulation of the jury pool and discrimination in the jury's composition and selection, and ensure the judicial system's integrity. California's rational grounds for Madera venue do not overcome the violations of appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights. (Taylor v. Louisiana, supra, 419 U.S. at p. 534; Smith v. Texas, supra, 311 U.S. at pp. 130-132.)

THE CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED

Respondent briefly argues that any venue error was harmless because no federal constitutional right is implicated and any California constitutional violation is subject to the miscarriage-of-justice standard embodied in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.3d 818, 836, which was not satisfied. (RBM5, 14-15.) Respondent is mistaken for the following reasons.

A. <u>Improper venue simply requires reversal</u>.

California cases hold that improper venue simply requires reversal. (People v. Crise, supra, 224 Cal.App.3d Supp. at p. 3; People v. Pollack (1938) 26 Cal.App.2d 602, 605.) Federal cases similarly reverse. (United States v. Ramirez, supra, 420 F.3d at pp. 136, 138; United States v. Strain, supra, 396 F.3d at p. 691; United States v. Salinas, supra, 373 F.3d at p. 162; United States v. Morgan, supra, 393 F.3d at pp. 194, 201; United States v. Wood, supra, 364 F.3d at pp. 706, 714; United States v. Villarini, supra, 283 F.3d at p. 536; United States v. Bowens, supra, 224 F.3d at pp. 304, 316; United States v. Tingle, supra, 183 F.3d at pp. 723, 728, 730; United States v. Beech-Nut Nutrition Corp., supra, 871 F.2d at pp. 1184, 1191, 1199; United States v. Davis, supra, 666 F.2d at p. 202; United States v. Passodelis, supra, 615 F.2d at pp. 976, 979.)

B. The violation of California Constitution, article I, section 16 was structural error.

The California Constitution, article I, section 16 guarantees the right to trial by jury with essential attributes of number, impartiality, and unanimity.

(*Price v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 1072-1073.) In some respects, article I, section 16's essential guarantees are broader than the Sixth Amendment's protections. (*Apodaca v. Oregon* (1972) 406 U.S. 404, 410-411 [non-unanimous, 10-of-12 jury verdicts are permissible]; *Williams v. Florida*, *supra*, 399 U.S. at p. 103 [six person jury not unconstitutional].) The violation of California Constitution article I, section 16 (see § IA1, *ante*) was structural error. (*People v. Collins* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 297, 311 [fundamental denial of jury trial was structural error]; *People v. Traugott* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 492, 505 [denial of 12-person jury rendering a unanimous verdict was structural error that was reversible per se].)

C. The Sixth Amendment violations were structural errors that require reversal, without the necessity of a prejudice determination.

The violation of the fundamental Sixth Amendment jury trial right (see § IA2, ante) was structural error that compels reversal, without the necessity of a prejudice determination. (Duncan v. Louisiana, supra, 391 U.S. at pp. 156-158, 162; Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 281-282.) Additionally, the fundamental Sixth Amendment cross-section violation (see § IA2, ante) was structural error. (Taylor v. Louisiana, supra, 419 U.S. at pp. 537, 538.)

Also, Gomez v. United States (1989) 490 U.S. 858 (Gomez) concluded that the Federal Magistrates Act did not empower a magistrate to conduct voir dire and jury selection in a felony trial without defendant's consent. (Id. at pp. 871-876.) Jury selection was the primary means by which a court may enforce the defendant's right to be tried by a jury free from racial prejudice. (Id. at p.

873.) The Government argued any error was harmless because petitioner alleged no specific prejudice from the magistrate's conducting the voir dire examination. The United States Supreme Court concluded this argument was meritless. Defendant's basic right to have all critical stages of a criminal trial conducted by a person with jurisdiction to preside was not subject to harmless-error analysis. (*Id.* at p. 876.)

Nguyen v. United States (2003) 539 U.S. 69 (Nguyen) concluded that a panel of the Court of Appeals consisting of two Article III judges and one article IV judge did not have authority to decide petitioners' appeals. (Id. at pp. 71, 77.) The Government's invitation to assess the merits of petitioners' convictions or whether the fairness, integrity or public-reputation of the proceedings were impaired by the panel's composition was held inappropriate. (Id. at p. 80.) A judgment would be invalidated without an assessment of prejudice where the statutory error violated a strong policy concerning the proper administration of judicial business. (Id. at p. 81.) Although it was true that two judges of a three-judge panel constituted a quorum legally able to transact business, it was doubtful whether two judges had any authority to serve by themselves as a panel. (Id. at pp. 82-83.)

Gomez and Nguyen make clear that statutory errors require automatic reversal. (see also, United States v. Curbelo, supra, 343 F.3d at p. 280, fn. 6 ["The Supreme Court has clearly held that structural errors need not be of

constitutional dimension"].) Here, as in *Gomez*, and *Nguyen*, the adjudicator was wrongly invested with adjudicative power by a statutory violation.

United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez (2006) 548 U.S. 140 (Gonzalez-Lopez) held that the deprivation of defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice was a structural error that defied harmless error analysis. (Id. at pp. 148-151.) Structural defects affect the framework within which the trial proceeds and are not simply an error in the trial process itself. (Id. at p. 148.) To determine the effect of a wrongful denial of counsel of choice would involve speculative assessments upon what matters rejected counsel would have handled differently. (Id. at p. 151.)

Here, as in *Gonzalez-Lopez*, the error affected the framework within which the trial proceeded and was not simply an error in the trial process itself. To determine the effect of a wrongful denial of a proper venue and vicinage would involve speculative assessments upon how a properly constituted jury from Fresno County, reflecting a fair-cross section of the community, including appellant's peers, would have seen and evaluated the evidence. "[T]he Sixth Amendment jurisprudence recognizes that juries can be constitutionally impartial and still reach verdicts very different from the verdicts that juries of other compositions (*i.e.*, representative of other communities) would likely reach." (Brown, *supra*, 53 *Md. L.Rev.* at p. 112.) Stated differently, the Sixth Amendment requires more than appellate speculation about a hypothetical jury's action. (*Sullivan v. Louisiana*, *supra*, 508 U.S. at p. 280.) The wrong Madera

County entity judged the defendant guilty. (*Id.* at p. 281.) The structural error requires reversal, without the necessity of a prejudice determination. (*Duncan v. Louisiana*, supra, 391 U.S. at pp. 156-158, 162; Sullivan v. Louisiana, supra, 508 U.S. at pp. 280, 281, 282; Taylor v. Louisiana, supra, 419 U.S. at pp. 537, 538; Gomez v. United States, supra, 490 U.S. at p. 876; Nguyen v. United States, supra, 539 U.S. at pp. 80-83; United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, supra, 548 U.S. at pp. 148-151.)

D. The Equal Protection and Due Process violations that resulted from the jury's composition and selection from the wrong venue and vicinage are not amenable to harmless error review and require automatic reversal.

"If there has been discrimination, whether accomplished ingeniously or ingenuously, the conviction cannot stand." (*Smith v. Texas*, *supra*, 311 U.S. at p. 132.)

In *Peters v. Kiff, supra*, 407 U.S. 493, respondent argued that, even if the grand and petit juries were unconstitutionally selected, the white defendant was not entitled to relief because he had not affirmatively shown how he was actually harmed by the erroneous exclusion of African-Americans. (*Id.* at p. 498.) However, the exclusion of a discernable class from jury service injured not only those defendants who belonged to the excluded class, but other defendants because it destroyed the possibility that the jury will reflect a representative cross-section of the community. (*Id.* at p. 500.) The state could not subject defendant to indictment and trial by grand and petit juries that were illegal in their composition because to do so denied him due process of law. (*Id.* at pp.

501, 504.) A state could not subject a defendant to indictment or trial by a jury selected in an arbitrary and discriminatory manner consistent with due process. (Id. at pp. 502, 504.) Illegal and unconstitutional jury selection procedures cast doubt on the integrity of the whole judicial process, created the appearance of bias in the decision of individual cases, and increased the risk of actual bias. (Id. at pp. 502-503.) The opportunity to appeal to race prejudice was latent in a vast range of issues, cutting across the entire fabric of our society. (Id. at p. 503.) Moreover, when any large and identifiable segment of the community was excluded from jury service, its effect was to remove from the jury room qualities of human nature and varieties of human experience that had an unknown and perhaps unknowable range. (Ibid.) The group's exclusion deprived the jury of a perspective on human events that may have unsuspected importance in any case that may be presented. (Id. at pp. 503-504.) The nature of the challenged practices made proof of actual harm, or lack of harm, "virtually impossible to assess. For there is no way to determine what jury would have been selected under a constitutionally valid selection system, or how the jury would have decided the case." (Id. at p. 504.) If African-Americans were systematically excluded from the grand and petit juries, defendant was indicted and convicted by tribunals that failed to satisfy the elementary requirements of due process, and neither the indictment nor the conviction could stand. (Id. at p. 505.)

In Vasquez v. Hillery, supra, 474 U.S. 254, California's Attorney General argued that discrimination in the grand jury was harmless error, claimed the

evidence against defendant was overwhelming, and urged any taint attributable to the indictment process was purged after his conviction with a fair trial. (Id. at p. 260.) The United States Supreme Court's acceptance of the Attorney General's theory would require abandonment of more than a century of consistent precedents. (Ibid.) Discrimination on the basis of race in the selection of grand jurors strikes at the fundamental values of our judicial system and our society as a whole. (Id. at p. 262.) Defendant's indictment by a grand jury from which members of a racial group were purposefully excluded denied his right to equal protection. (Ibid.) The Attorney General's argument that requiring a state to retry a defendant, sometimes years later, imposed an unduly harsh penalty for a constitutional defect bearing no relation to the trial's fundamental fairness was rejected. Intentional discrimination in the selection of grand jurors, possibly only under color of state authority, was a grave constitutional trespass. The only effective remedy for the violation was not disproportionate to the evil that it sought to deter. (Ibid.) "[D]iscrimination in the grand jury undermines the structural integrity of the criminal tribunal itself, and is not amenable to harmless-error review." (Id. at pp. 263-264.) The conviction was void under the Equal Protection Clause because a conviction cannot cure the taint attributable to a charging body selected on the basis of race. (Id. at p. 264.) The overriding importance to eliminate the systematic flaw in the charging process and the difficulty of assessing its effect on any given defendant required continued adherence to a rule of mandatory reversal. (*Ibid.*)

In *Miller-El v. Dretke* (2004) 545 U.S. 231, Dallas County office prosecutors followed a specific policy of systematically excluding blacks from juries for decades. (*Id.* at p. 263.) A district judge testified that when he had earlier served in the District Attorney's office, his supervisor warned him that he would be fired if he permitted African-Americans to serve on a jury. (*Id.* at p. 264.) An office jury selection manual authorized by a former prosecutor (and later judge) under the direction of District Attorney Office supervisors outlined the reasoning for excluding minorities from jury service, remained in circulation, and was available to one of the prosecutor's in Miller-El's trial. (*Ibid.*)

During jury selection, the prosecution resorted to "shuffling of the venire panel." (*Id.* at p. 253.) In Texas criminal practice, either side could literally reshuffle the cards bearing panel members' names, thereby rearranging the order in which members of venire panel were seated and reached for questioning. Once the order was established, panel members seated at the back were likely to escape voir dire altogether because those not questioned by the end of the week were dismissed. (*Ibid.*) The prosecution decided to seek jury shuffles when a predominant number of African-Americans were seated in the front of the panel. (*Id.* at pp. 254, 265.) By its own admission, the district attorney's office had used the process in the past to manipulate the jury's racial composition. (*Id.* at p. 264.) The jury selection was "infected by shuffling." (*Id.* at p. 266.) When the government's choice of jurors is tainted with racial bias, the overt wrong casts

doubt over the obligation of the parties, the jury, and the court to adhere to the law throughout the trials. (*Id.* at p. 238.) The prosecutor's discrimination jeopardized the very integrity of courts, invited cynicism respecting the jury's neutrality, and undermined public confidence in adjudication. (*Ibid.*) Repeatedly and consistently proclaimed for over a certainty, racial discrimination by the state in jury selection offended Equal Protection. (*Ibid.*)

Here, as previously explained (§§ IA3, B2-4, C4, IID, *ante*), the prosecution shuffled the Fresno County venire panel by selecting Madera County rather than Fresno County as the venue for defendant's prosecution, which reduced by nearly 50% the number of African-Americans, appellant's peers, denied a representative cross-section of the community, tainted the jury's structural integrity, and violated appellant's Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process of law and equal protection. The convictions are void and cannot stand because the Fourteenth Amendment violations are not amenable to harmless error review and require automatic reversal.

E. Reversal is required because any overruling of *Bradford* and / or California cases holding that improper venue requires reversal must be prospective only and cannot be applied retroactively to applicant's case consistent with the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause.

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